IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 08-418

ANDREA JOHNSON,

Petitioner,

-VS-

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW-DIRECT CONFLICT FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

> CARLOS J. MARTINEZ Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1960

Shannon Patricia McKenna Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar Number 0385158 Counsel for Petitioner

INTRODUCTION

The decision below, *Johnson v. State*, 974 So. 2d 1152 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008), is being reviewed¹ based on a conflict with *Davis v. State*, 968 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007); *Silverstein v. State*, 654 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); *Reed v. State*, 810 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002); and *Van Ellis v. State*, 455 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) on the issue of implied waiver of credit for time served.

The Petitioner, Andrea Johnson, was the Appellant/Defendant in the proceedings below and the Respondent, State of Florida, was the Appellee/Plaintiff in the proceedings below. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stood in the lower courts, by proper name, or as Petitioner and Respondent. The symbol "SR." will denote the supplemental record on appeal.

¹ The decision on review was initially stayed pending the disposition of *Rivera v*. *State*, 954 So. 2d 1216 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007), review granted 968 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 2007). The *Rivera* decision was being reviewed based on a conflict between *Rivera* and the decisions in *Silverstein*; *Reed*; and *Van Ellis*; as well as *Henderson v*. *State*, 720 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998); *Hinkel v*. *State*, 937 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006); *Briggs v*. *State*, 929 So. 2d 1151 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006), and *Tillman v*. *State*, 693 So. 2d 626 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997).

Ultimately, this Court discharged jurisdiction and dismissed review in *Rivera*. *See Rivera v. State*, 3 So. 3d 1193 (Fla. 2009). This Court granted review in this case after the parties responded to this Court's order to show cause why its decision discharging jurisdiction and dismissing review of *Rivera* is not controlling in this case and thus why this Court should not decline to accept jurisdiction in this case. This Court also granted review in a companion case, *Joyner v. State*, 988 So. 2d 670 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008), review granted 17 So. 3d 705.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Johnson was charged by information, on October 15, 2002, with armed robbery with a firearm and possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. On November 5, 2002, the defendant entered a guilty plea. (SR. 2, 49). In accordance with the plea, the trial court sentenced him as a youthful offender to four years of probation with the special conditions of one day in jail and that he enter and successfully complete boot camp. (SR. 2, 15-19).

Almost three years later, on September 28, 2005, an affidavit of violation of probation was filed alleging that the defendant committed a new offense, that he failed to submit monthly probation reports, and that he failed to pay his cost of probation supervision. (SR. 29). On April 25, 2006, a hearing was held on the probation violation. At this hearing, Mr. Johnson accepted the state's plea offer of four years in prison, and he admitted to the technical violations of failing to submit monthly reports and failing to pay his costs of supervision. The state withdrew the allegation that he committed a new offense.

In accordance with the plea, the trial court sentenced Mr. Johnson to four years in prison with credit for time served from his last booking date, November 14, 2005. (SR. 29, 52-54). The fact that Mr. Johnson served additional time in boot camp and his entitlement and/or waiver to this credit was never discussed by any of the parties. After the court pronounced sentence, the court's clerk asked if there was any way to get Mr. Johnson to sign a contract for "exactly which case that has credit time serve." (SR. 54). The written agreement states that Mr. Johnson admitted to a violation of probation and understood and agreed that he would receive credit for all time served from November 14, 2005 in this case, F02-2782. (SR. 33). The written agreement did not indicate that Mr. Johnson had served additional time in boot camp, and it did not indicate that he was waiving this additional credit for time served.

On April 11, 2007, Mr. Johnson filed a pro se Rule 3.800(a) motion alleging his entitlement to credit for time served in boot camp. On July 5, 2007, without a hearing, the trial court entered two orders on this motion. The first order "corrected" Mr. Johnson's sentence to provide for credit for time served from November 14, 2005. (SR. 43). A second order was also entered in which the trial court found that he was entitled to all credit for time served from November 14, 2005, but he was not entitled to any additional credit as he entered a plea agreeing to a four year sentence with credit for time served from November 14, 2005. (SR. 44-45).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The sentencing error at issue in this appeal presents a pure question of law subject to review *de novo*. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Glatzmayer*, 789 So. 2d 297, 301 n. 7 (Fla. 2001).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In a probation revocation case, a defendant is entitled to all credit time served on the original sentence and on subsequent sentences. The statutory right to credit for all time served may be waived. However, this waiver must be knowing, intentional, and voluntary; and it must be clearly shown on the record. All of the District Courts of Appeal, except for the Third District, consistently follow the rule of law that a defendant does not waive their entitlement to additional credit for time served when he or she agrees in a plea to a stipulated amount of credit for time served when the record is silent with respect to any additional credit for time served.

In its decision below, the Third District disagreed with its sister courts, and modified the well-established waiver rule to include an implied waiver exception when a defendant agrees in a plea to a stipulated amount of credit for time served, even though the defendant's entitlement to and/or waiver of this credit is not discussed in the record. This exception is in direct and express conflict with every other district court of appeal and it is contrary to well-established Florida law which requires all waivers to be knowing and voluntary. This Court should reverse the Third District's decision below and award Mr. Johnson credit for his time served in Boot Camp.

ARGUMENT

A DEFENDANT'S WAIVER OF CREDIT TIME SERVED WILL NOT BE PRESUMED; IT MUST BE KNOWING, INTENTIONAL, AND VOLUNTARY.

Since 1973, Florida has required that a "court imposing a sentence shall allow a defendant credit for **all time** she or he spent in the county jail before sentence. The credit must be for a specified period of time and shall be provided for in the sentence." § 921.161(1), Fla. Stat. (2006) (emphasis added). See Laws of Florida, Chapter 73-71 (amending Section 921.161(1) to require mandatory jail credit, rather than permissive, and to require court to provide for the credit in the sentence, and not during the term of court the sentence was imposed). "When a criminal defendant is sentenced after being convicted of a crime and serves some portion of that sentence, he or she is entitled to receive credit for the actual service of that sentence, or any portion thereof, in a resentencing for the same crime." State v. Rabedeau, 2 So. 3d 191, 193 (Fla. 2009). In the context of probation revocations, this means that a defendant is entitled to credit for all time served on the original sentence and on any subsequent sentences. See e.g. Ryan v. State, 837 So. 2d 1075 (Fla. 3d DCA 2003).

The statutory right to credit for all time served may be waived by a defendant. See e.g., Epler v. Judges of the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit, Hillsborough County, 308 So. 2d 134 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975); Prangler v. State, 470 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). Any waiver, however, must be knowing and voluntary, and it must be clearly shown on the record. This Court has defined waiver "as the voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a **known** right or conduct which implies the voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right." *Raymond James Financial Services, Inc. v. Saldukas*, 896 So. 2d 707, 711 (Fla. 2005) (citation omitted) (emphasis added).

If a defendant does not know about a right, then he or she cannot waive that right. *See Cochron v. State*, 117 So. 2d 544 (Fla. 3d DCA 1960). In *Lawrence v. State*, 306 So. 2d 561 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975), the Fourth District examined the situation where a record was silent regarding some, but not all, of a defendant's credit for time served. In *Lawrence*, the defendant spent time in county jail during three separate periods of time before he was sentenced. The defendant entered a plea to his charges and the trial court granted him credit for time served for two of the three periods of time. There was no reference during the sentencing regarding the third period of time served. The court specifically noted that "silence on this matter would seem to negate any waiver by the defendant of the credit for jail time mandatorily prescribed in section 921.161(1), F.S." *Id.* at 562 & n.2. Silence on a matter negates any waiver, as a defendant must be aware of the right which he or she is waiving.

In conformity with this law requiring a knowing, intentional and voluntary waiver, all of the District Courts of Appeal, except for the Third District, which permits an **implied** waiver of credit for time served,² consistently follow the rule of law that a defendant does not waive any additional credit for time served, unless the waiver of this credit is specifically mentioned as part of the plea agreement. *See generally Silverstein v. State*, 654 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); *Davis v. State*, 968 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007); *Reed v. State*, 810 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002); *Van Ellis v. State*, 455 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984).

In *Silverstein v. State*, 654 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995), the trial court sentenced the defendant pursuant to a plea agreement on a probation violation to 364 days in jail with 127 days credit for time served, which was the amount of time the defendant served since he was arrested on the current probation violation. (While the defendant's attorney mentioned to the trial court that there was additional time served, the attorney did not object to the sentence as imposed.) The trial court found that the defendant waived any right to additional credit for time served because the plea did not specifically provide for any additional credit for time served. The **Fourth District** found that the defendant did not waive his entitlement to this additional credit and held: "Where a defendant's waiver of credit for time served on the incarcerative portion of a

² Contrary to its sister courts, the Third District holds: "[T]hat a provision in a plea agreement that the defendant is to be awarded credit for time served from a specific date **effectively** waives any claim to credit for time served before that date." *Johnson*, 974 So. 2d at 1152-1153 (citations omitted).

split sentence is not clearly shown on the record, it will not be presumed." 654 So. 2d at 1041 (citation omitted). The Fourth District reversed and remanded the case to the trial court to award the defendant credit for time served previously in custody. *See also Henderson v. State*, 720 So. 2d 1121 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (in deciding whether an affidavit of violation of community control was timely filed, the court stated in *dicta* that the written plea agreement which stated that the defendant will receive credit for 3 years which he served in jail, was not clear and specific waiver of additional time which he served in prison); *Williams v. State*, 711 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (in *dicta* court commented that plea agreement which provided for 35 months with 115 days of credit did not constitute waiver of additional credit for time served).

Recently, in *Hines v. State*, 4 So. 3d 726 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009), the **Fourth District** confirmed its continued agreement with its earlier *Silverstein* decision. In *Hines*, the defendant stipulated to an amount of credit for time served in his plea. After he was sentenced, he claimed entitlement to an additional 193 days of credit for time served. The state argued that by stipulating to a specific amount of credit for time served. The state argued this right to any additional credit for time served. The Fourth District again specifically rejected this argument finding "that the record does not show a specific voluntary waiver of this jail credit." *Hines*, 4 So. 3d at 727 (citing *Davis, Reed, Silverstein*, as well as *Tribble v. State*, 948 So. 2d 52, 54 (Fla. 4th DCA

2007) and *Murphy v. State*, 930 So. 2d 794 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006). *Compare White v. State*, 995 So. 2d 1172 (Fla. 4th DCA 2008) (defendant apparently waived credit for additional time served in plea agreement which called for specific sentence with a specific amount of credit from a particular date where the written plea agreement in bold capital letters included the following statement: "I AM WAIVING ALL OTHER CREDIT FOR TIME ALREADY SERVED.") (emphasis in original).

Similar to Silverstein and Hines, in Davis v. State, 968 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007), the **Fifth District** held that a written plea agreement, which stated: "[c]redit for time served as of 7/31/2006 is 1,531 days[,]" was insufficient evidence that the defendant knowingly and voluntarily waived credit for additional time served. In Davis, the state specifically argued that the Second District's decision in Reed (discussed *supra*) "stands for the proposition that a stipulation to a specific amount of jail credit contained within a written plea agreement is tantamount to a waiver of any amount above the stipulated sum." Davis, 968 So. 2d at 1052. The Fifth District disagreed with the state's analysis and pointed out the decision in *Reed* was solely affirmed due to insufficient allegations, and that the defendant was permitted to re-file a facially sufficient motion. The court emphasized: "We do not interpret this dicta to mean that a waiver can be shown merely by a defendant's stipulation to a certain amount of credit, absent evidence that the defendant knew of his entitlement to

additional jail credit and voluntarily relinquished that right." Davis, 968 So. 2d at 1053. The court then remanded the case to the trial court to award the additional time served or to attach portions to the record that conclusively refute the defendant's entitlement to the credit. See also Canada v. State, 1 So. 3d 338 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009) (defendant's agreement to waive prison credit did not waive his entitlement to jail credit for time served while awaiting disposition on community supervision violations, where record was silent regarding jail credit, as waiver must be knowing and affirmatively appear as condition of plea) (citing Hill v. State, 985 So. 2d 1216 (Fla. 5th DCA 2008)); Hinkel v. State, 937 So. 2d 1201 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006) (in dicta the court noted that defendant's written acknowledgement alone, that he would receive credit for 73 days served since his current probation violation, was inconclusive regarding whether defendant waived any additional credit for time served, and suggested that if the written acknowledgement had added words such as "entitlement to additional jail credit has been waived" this would have been sufficient waiver); Briggs v. State, 929 So. 2d 1151 (Fla. 5th DCA 2006) (defendant's agreement to waive 178 days credit time served may have overlooked additional days served, if so then these days were not expressly and specifically waived).

The **First District** also agrees. In *Wells v. State*, 751 So. 2d 703 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000), the defendant entered into a negotiated plea agreement for a sentence of specific

length for the violation of probation, and for a specific amount of credit for time served waiting disposition on the violation of probation. The plea agreement, however, was silent regarding the amount of credit for time served on the original sentence. The First District held that this plea agreement and sentence failed to establish the defendant's waiver of credit for time previously served. The First District remanded for the awarding of this credit or for the attachment of documentation showing a waiver of this credit. *See also Van Ellis v. State*, 455 So. 2d 1065 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984) (declining to find such a waiver where the defendant did not "voluntarily and specifically" relinquish his right to time served when he did not object to his sentence of a specific length with a specific amount of credit for time served).

The **First District** confirmed its holding in *Wells* in several more recent cases. *See Williams v. State*, 12 So. 3d 896 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009); *Velasquez v. State*, 11 So. 3d 979 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009); and *Giggets v. State*, 5 So. 3d 756 (Fla. 1st DCA 2009). In *Williams*, based on his plea agreement the defendant was sentenced to three years imprisonment with credit for time served from his most recent arrest. The plea colloquy and the written agreement were silent regarding his entitlement to prison credit. The First District concluded that there was no indication of a waiver of this prison credit in the record. In *Velasquez*, the defendant's plea agreement specifically called for him to receive 100 days of credit for time served. The First District held: [A] written notation in the plea agreement as to the amount of credit a defendant will receive is not sufficient to demonstrate that a defendant 'knowingly and voluntarily waived jail credit to which he would otherwise be legally entitled.' [citation omitted] A stipulation to a specific amount of credit in a written plea agreement is not sufficient in the absence of evidence 'that the defendant knew of his entitlement to additional credit and voluntarily relinquished that right.' [citation omitted].

Velasquez, 11 So. 3d at 980, quoting *Davis*, 968 So. 2d at 1052, 1053. Similarly, in *Giggets*, the defendant entered a guilty plea and stipulated to 698 days of credit for time served, but after sentencing filed a motion alleging his entitlement to 910 days of credit for time served. Yet again, the First District held: "[T]he plea agreement and plea transcripts do not establish that, as part of his plea, he knowingly waived any additional credit which he may have been due. A waiver of jail credit cannot be shown merely by a defendant's stipulation to a certain amount of credit in the absence of evidence that the defendant knew of his entitlement to additional credit and voluntarily relinquished that right." *Giggets*, 5 So. 3d at 757 (citations omitted).

The **Second District** additionally follows the reasoning of these other district courts of appeal. In *Reed v. State*, 810 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002) the court held that the defendant's motion was facially insufficient for failure to allege that the court records showed her entitlement to additional jail credit. In so doing, however, in *dicta*, it emphasized that the defendant's sentence document alone, which notes that the

defendant will receive 251 days stipulated credit, is not a sufficient express and specific waiver of any remaining credit for time served. The Second District also commented: "It seems to this court that a defendant should not lose credit for jail time actually served due to a mistake by the defendant, defense counsel, or the State." *Id.* at 1027.

These decisions of the First, Second, Fourth and Fifth District Courts of Appeal are in line with the legal definition of waiver. When a defendant is not aware of his entitlement to additional credit for time served, there cannot be a knowing, intentional and voluntary waiver of this additional credit for time served. Similar to the defendants in these decisions, Mr. Johnson entered a plea to a sentence of a specified length (4 years) with a specified amount of credit for time served (from November 14, 2005—the date of his arrest on the probation violations). (SR. 29, 33, 52-54). Also similar to these defendants, Mr. Johnson's plea agreement was silent regarding his entitlement and/or waiver to additional credit for time served in Boot Camp. (SR. 29, 33, 52-54). In accord with these decisions, Mr. Johnson should be granted credit for time served in Boot Camp as he did not knowingly, intentionally and voluntarily waive his statutory right to this credit for time served.

In its decision below, however, the Third District Court of Appeal disagreed. Rather than granting Mr. Johnson's credit for time served, it modified the wellestablished rule which requires a knowing, intentional, and voluntary waiver to include an implied waiver exception. Specifically, the Third District held: "Following *Hines v. State*, 906 So. 2d 1137 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005), we again hold that a provision in a plea agreement that the defendant is to be awarded credit for time served from a specific date **effectively** waives any claim to credit for time served before that date." *Johnson*, 974 So. 2d at 1152 (citations omitted) (emphasis added). This implied waiver exception for credit for time served is in direct and express conflict with every other district court of appeal, and with this Court's definition of waiver.

This Court should find that this implied waiver exception is contrary to wellestablished Florida law which requires all waivers to be knowing, intentional, and voluntary. This Court should then apply the credit due to Mr. Johnson for his time spent in Boot Camp. The application of the additional credit for time served is not a difficult task. It is mainly a ministerial/clerical function, and it does not usually involve any factual disputes.

It is reasonable to apply this credit as both parties entered the agreement knowing that absent a valid waiver the defendant is entitled at all credit for time served. Additionally, it is the state's duty to make certain that the issue of credit for time served is fully addressed by either crediting it to the defendant and/or ensuring that the defendant properly waived the credit. As this Court found in *McCoy v. State*,

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