IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC08-1489 DCA CASE NO. 3D08-1428

BERNARD JOYNER,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW TO THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

RICHARD L. POLIN Bureau Chief, Criminal Appeals Florida Bar No. 0230987

NIKOLE HICIANO Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0844411 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 650 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5850 (W) (305) 377-5655 (F)

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In probation revocation cases, a defendant is generally entitled to credit time served on the original sentence and subsequent sentence. However, such credit is subject to being waived. Here, the written plea agreement effectively waived credits for time served prior to the arrest on the violation of probation. Joyner knowingly signed a form, which made it clear, that he would not be receiving any credit for time served prior to his arrest on the violation of probation. Therefore, Petitioner is not entitled to additional credit for time served beyond that specified in the agreement.

Petitioner also requests that this Court "apply the credit due to Mr. Joyner for the 122 days he spent in jail upon his initial arrest." However, despite Petitioner's urging otherwise, he is not entitled to this remedy. Petitioner entered into a plea agreement contingent on specific terms. If Petitioner is unhappy with his sentencing package, the proper remedy is to seek the withdrawal of the plea in its entirety.

ARGUMENT

THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE WRITTEN PLEA AGREEMENT CONCLUSIVELY REFUTED THE RULE 3.800(A) MOTION, AS THE WRITTEN AGREEMENT WAIVED ANY FURTHER CREDIT FOR TIME SERVED.

In probation revocation cases, a defendant is generally entitled to credit time served on the original sentence and subsequent sentence. However, such credit is subject to being waived. In the instant case, the written plea agreement effectively waived credits for time served prior to the arrest on the violation of probation. Accordingly, the written agreement refutes the allegations raised in the Rule 3.800(a) motion.

Despite Petitioner's arguments to the contrary, Petitioner agreed to 78 days credit for time served as a condition of a plea agreement and therefore is not entitled to relief. He knowingly signed a form, which made it clear, that he would not be receiving any credit for time served prior to his arrest on the violation of probation. "A plea agreement is a contract and the rules of contract law are applicable to plea agreements." <u>Garcia v. State</u>, 722 So. 2d 905, 907 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998) (<u>citing State v. Frazier</u>, 697 So. 2d 944, 945 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997)); <u>see also</u> <u>A.D.W. v. State</u>, 777 So. 2d 1101, 1104 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001) (acknowledging that

"plea agreements are controlled by contract law"). A defendant is entitled to credit for all time served in county jail before the sentence. Fl. Stat. 921.161 (2005). A sentence that does not mandate credit for time served would be illegal since a trial court has no discretion to impose a sentence without crediting a defendant with time served. <u>State v. Mancino</u>, 714 So. 2d 429, 433 (Fla. 1998). However, a party may waive any right to which he is legally entitled under the Constitution, a statute, or a contract. <u>State, Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services v. E.D.S. Federal Corporation</u>, 631 So. 2d 353 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). Indeed, a defendant can waive credit for time served as part of a plea agreement. <u>Silverstein v. State</u>, 654 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995); <u>Prangler v. State</u>, 470 So. 2d 105 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985).

Black's Law Dictionary defines waiver as "the voluntary relinquishment or abandonment — express or implied — of a legal right or advantage." <u>Black's Law</u> <u>Dictionary</u> (8th ed. 2004). This Court has defined it as "the voluntary and intentional relinquishment of a known right <u>or</u> conduct which implies [such relinquishment]." <u>Raymond James Fin. Servs., Inc. v. Saldukas</u>, 896 So. 2d 707, 711 (Fla.2005)(emphasis added). However, "the common definition of waiver may lead to the incorrect inference that the promisor must know his legal rights and must intend the legal effect of the promise. But ... it is sufficient if he has reason to know the essential facts." Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 84 (1981).

Florida courts have recognized that three circumstances give rise to a waiver: (1) the existence of a right which may be waived; (2) actual or constructive knowledge of the right; and (3) the intent to relinquish the right. <u>See Bueno v. Workman</u>, 20 So. 3d 993, 998 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009) <u>citing LeNeve v. Via S. Fla., L.L.C.</u>, 908 So. 2d 530, 535 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); <u>see also, Capital Bank v. Needle</u>, 596 So. 2d 1134, 1138 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). Proof of these elements "may be express, or implied from conduct or acts that lead a party to believe a right has been waived." <u>See Taylor v. Kenco Chem. & Mfg. Corp.</u>, 465 So. 2d 581, 587 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). Contrary to Petitioner's assertion, the Third District Court of Appeal has not modified the law concerning the waiver of additional credit for time served by creating what Petitioner refers to as an "implicit intent waiver exception."

Indeed, Joyner knowingly waived credit to any additional time by entering into an agreement which limited the amount of credit for time served that he would receive. On February 15, 2007, Petitioner signed an agreement specifically granting him credit <u>only</u> for time served from November 29, 2006, to February 15, 2007. Petitioner received these seventy-eight (78) days credit. The agreement states that:

"[the Defendant] <u>understands</u> and <u>agrees</u> that as part of his plea bargain he <u>would be receiving the following credit for time served</u> (check one and fill in as appropriate):

If from <u>11-29</u>, 2006, to <u>2-15</u>, 2007.

_____days credit for time served

☐ All credit for time served

□ No credit for time served.

(Emphasis in original).

Only the first box was checked. Clearly, at the time he signed the agreement, Joyner was aware that he was <u>only</u> being credited with the period from November 29, 2006, to February 15, 2007 as the box for "<u>all</u>" credit for time served was not checked off. The form was signed by the defendant, defense counsel, the assistant state attorney, and the judge. The terms of the agreement were clear and unambiguous. In signing this agreement, Joyner knew that he was not being awarded "all" credit for time served.

Petitioner attempts to argue that his waiver was not knowingly and voluntary. He argues that a defendant cannot waive a right that he does not know about. (Pet. Brief. Pg 6). This claim is not preserved and is also beyond the scope

of a proceeding pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a). In his initial motion in the Circuit Court, and his appeal to the District Court, the Petitioner's argument was simply that he was entitled credit to an additional 122 days. However, he now argues "lack of awareness." These are two separate and distinct arguments. Petitioner never presented this argument to the Circuit or the District Court therefore this is not properly before this Court.

Moreover, even if the "lack of awareness" argument was preserved, it is not cognizable in a Rule 3.800(a) motion. Claims filed pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a) must be apparent on the face of the record. Apparent from the face of the record might entail a question of the sufficiency of a judge's inquiry and colloquy, but awareness of a defendant goes beyond that - what his attorney told him; what he knew from prior experience in the criminal justice system. These inquires would entail evidentiary determinations and are therefore beyond the scope for 3.800(a). Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(a); <u>Renaud v. State</u>, 926 So. 2d 1241 (Fla. 2006)("A requirement for relief under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.800(a) is 'that the court records demonstrate on their face an entitlement to ... relief.' This rule does not contemplate the necessity of an evidentiary hearing.").

Nevertheless, if this Court does find that this claim is preserved, Petitioner

is not entitled to relief. This Court has defined "knowingly" as "done by a person who is aware or *should be aware* of the nature of his or her conduct and that his or her conduct is substantially certain to cause the intended result." <u>State v. Harden</u>, 938 So. 2d 480, 491 (Fla. 2006). Joyner signed an agreement awarding him jail credit from the period from November 29, 2006, to February 15, 2007. The form had the option of checking the box awarding him all credit for time served. However this option was not marked. Joyner knew that there was the option to award him full credit for time served, but the State only offered credit for time served between two specific dates. The record establishes the Petitioner's intent to waive a portion of his accrued jail time. It is clear that Joyner was aware that there was an option to receive all credit for time, but he was receiving less than that.

In his brief, Petitioner also argues that the Third District Court of Appeal has modified the well-established waiver rule to include an implied waiver exception when the a defendant agrees on a plea to a stipulated amount of credit for time served, even though the defendant's entitlement to and/or waiver of the credit is not discussed in the record. It is his position that the Third District Court of Appeal is in conflict with every other district court. However, the cited cases are all distinguishable.

Here, unlike the cited cases from the other district courts, the defendant

signed a plea agreement that demonstrated a voluntary relinquishment of a known right. The Third District Court of Appeal held "that a provision in a plea agreement that the defendant is to be awarded credit for time served from a specific date effectively waives any claim to credit for time served before that date." Despite Petitioner's urging otherwise, this holding is not in express or direct conflict with the other district courts of appeal.

For example, in <u>Davis v State</u>, 968 So. 2d 1051, 1052 (Fla. 5th DCA 2007), the Fifth District considered whether a plea agreement statement providing that "credit for time served as 7/31/2006 is 1,531 days" waives entitlement to additional days of jail credit. The Fifth District Court of Appeal found that the statement was not conclusive evidence that the defendant knowingly and voluntarily waived jail credit to which he would otherwise be entitled to. The Fifth District remanded the case to the trial court with instructions to either grant the motion or attach portions of the record conclusively refuting the inmate's claim. Davis goes to "a certain amount of credit" – e.g., a number of days and the Third District's opinion speaks to a written plea agreement for credit for time served between specific dates.

Similarly, Petitioner cites to <u>Silverstein v. State</u>, 654 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). As with <u>Davis</u>, <u>Silverstein</u> is factually distinguishable inasmuch as it

allowed a certain number of days of credit for time served – 127 days – whereas the Third District's opinion allowed for credit for time served from a date certain. Furthermore, the holding in <u>Silverstein</u> is that where the waiver of credit is not shown on the record, it will not be presumed. <u>Silverstein</u>, 654 So.2d at 1041. In the instant case, Petitioner signed a plea agreement that demonstrated on the record a voluntary relinquishment of a known right.

At least one other District Court has held the same as the Third District Court of Appeal. Recently, in Hagan v. State, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D83 (Fla. 1st DCA Dec. 31, 2009), the First District Court of Appeal found that a defendant knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to receive credit for time served. In Hagan, the defendant signed a plea agreement "expressly stipulating that he would receive jail credit for time served since October 2, 2007, in exchange for his guilty plea." Id. The defendant later claimed that he did not knowingly waive his right to receive credit for time served prior to that date. The court found that "[t]he inclusion of specific language indicating the specific date from which the defendant's credit for time served would count towards his current sentence is sufficient to demonstrate he knowingly and voluntarily waived his right to have any credit he may have accrued prior to that date count towards his current sentence." Id. Indeed, none of the cases relied upon by the Petitioner involve a written form, signed by a defendant, in which the court conspicuously did not check off the unqualified option for <u>all</u> credit for time served.

Finally, as a remedy, Petitioner requests that this Court "apply the credit due to Mr. Joyner for the 122 days he spent in jail upon his initial arrest." (Pet. Brief pg. 14). However, despite Petitioner's urging otherwise, he is not entitled to this remedy. Petitioner entered into a plea agreement contingent on specific terms. The signed written agreement provided credit only from the last booking date and made it clear, on its face, that the State was not providing any other credit. If Petitioner is unhappy with his sentencing package, the proper remedy is to seek the withdrawal of the plea in its entirety. The State would then be free to prosecute the violation of probation and seek whatever sentence the trial court might impose for the violation of probation, which might have been considerably greater. Instead, of seeking withdrawal of his plea, Petitioner is seeking to keep the benefit of a plea/sentence offered by the State and to piggy back additional benefits onto it. Based on the foregoing, Petitioner's signed a plea agreement to credit for time served for time served between two stated dates. The plea agreement was a contract between the State and the Petitioner. The terms of that agreement were clear and unambiguous. The record reflects that the waiver was knowing and voluntary. Petitioner should not be entitled to additional credit for time served

beyond that specified in the agreement. To do so, under these circumstances, would render plea agreements meaningless.

If this Court disagrees with the Third District Court of Appeal, the proper remedy is to remand the matter back to the trial court for further proceedings or for the trial court to attach documents that refute the defendant's claims. Indeed, the plea colloquy was not appended to the lower court's order. The plea colloquy could very well have gone beyond the written waiver form, as it is conceivable that the lower court expressly advised the defendant that as part of the plea, credit for prior time served was being waived. However, as the plea colloquy was not appended to the lower court's order, it is beyond the scope of review in this appeal. See Langdon v. State, 947 So. 2d 460 (Fla. 3d DCA 2006); Friss v. State, 881 So. 2d 38 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004) ("It is not the defendant's burden to attach portions of the record showing entitlement to relief, but it is the trial court's responsibility to attach portions conclusively refuting the claim."); see also Futrell v. State, 932 So. 2d 642 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006); McClain v. State, 629 So. 2d 320, 321 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993)("A trial court's failure to attach portions of the record refuting the allegations of a rule 3.850 motion cannot be remedied on appeal by the state's attempt to furnish material refuting the prisoner's claims.")

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing argument and authorities cited herein, Respondent respectfully requests that this Honorable Court affirm the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal.